THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED
DEC 04 2020
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001605

Lucas Marchant,Respondent,

v.

John Doe and John Doe d/b/a Democrats for Marchant, Defendants,

Of which John Doe is theAppellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Samuel D. Harms
S.C. Bar No: 13537
Double Aught Injury Lawyers
33 Market Point Drive
Greenville, SC 29607
(864) 453-0000
Attorney for Appellant

TABLE CONTENTS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Does the court of common pleas have subject matter jurisdiction over the plaintiff's ethics complaint, or alternatively, did the court of common pleas lose jurisdiction over the ethics complaint 10 days after the complaint was filed by the plaintiff?
- II. Does defendant John Doe 2 have a federal constitutional right to anonymous political speech and a right to anonymous distribution of political speech?
- III. Does defendant John Doe 2 have a state constitutional right to anonymous political speech and a right to anonymous distribution of political speech?
- IV. Should the cause of action for declaratory relief be dismissed by the court?
- V. Should the cause of action for defamation in the amended complaint be dismissed by the court?
- VI. Should the defendant's motion for a protective order been granted by the trial court?
- VII. Should the plaintiff's subpoena to Facebook be quashed by the court?
- VIII. Are the orders of the trial court immediately appealable?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The plaintiff, Lucas Marchant, was an independent candidate for the office of 13th Judicial Circuit Solicitor. (R. p. 21) (Complaint). On October 16, 2018, Lucas Marchant filed a campaign ethics complaint in the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas. (R. p. 21) (Complaint). The plaintiff filed the ethics complaint against two defendants: John Doe and John Doe d/b/a Democrats for Marchant. Since both defendants are named John Doe in the ethics complaint, and to avoid confusion, this brief uses the description John Doe 1 to refer to the first defendant to file an answer, and uses the description John Doe 2 to refer to the second defendant to file an answer to the ethics complaint (R. p. 30) (John Doe 1 Answer); (R. p. 31) (John Doe 2 Answer). This brief is filed by John Doe 2.

On October 17, 2018, the day after the ethics complaint was filed, but before the action was commenced by serving the complaint on either defendant, the plaintiff issued a subpoena to Facebook, Inc. ("Facebook"). (R. pp. 286-294) (Subp. Cover Letter, SC Subp. and Calif. Subp.). The plaintiff did not serve the subpoena on any defendant as required by the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. On January 2, 2019, John Doe 1 filed a motion to quash the subpoena issued to Facebook. (R. pp. 110) (Motion to Quash). On January 18, 2019, the plaintiff filed an amended ethics complaint. (R. p. 25) (Amended Complaint). The amended complaint dropped the request for an injunction and added a cause of action for defamation. On January 24, 2019, Judge Perry H. Gravely heard oral arguments on John Doe 1's motion to quash the subpoena to Facebook. (R. p. 35) (Hearing Transcript 01/24/2019). That same day, on January 24,

2019, the trial court issued an order denying John Doe 1's motion to quash the subpoena. (R. p. 16) (Order 01/24/2019).

On February 25, 2019, John Doe 1 filed an answer to the complaint. (R. p. 30) (John Doe 1 Answer) and a Notice of Appeal (R. p. 303) (John Doe 1 Notice of Appeal). On April 4, 2019, the attorney for John Doe 1 was relieved as counsel by the court. (R. p. 180) (Consent Order 04/04/2019). On May 2, 2019, the Court of Appeals issued an order dismissing the appeal of John Doe 1 because the underlying order was not immediately appealable. (R. p. 304) (Order 05/02/2019). The remittitur was sent on May 21, 2019. (R. p. 305) (Remittitur).

On May 10, 2019, John Doe 2 filed an answer and a motion to dismiss, a motion for a protective order, and motion to quash the subpoena to Facebook. (R. p. 31) (John Doe 2 Answer); (R. p. 183) (Motion to Dismiss); (R. p. 184) (Motion for Protective Order/Quash). On June 25, 2019, Judge Edward W. Miller heard oral arguments on John Doe 2's motion to dismiss, motion for a protective order, and motion to quash the subpoena to Facebook. (R. p. 56) (Hearing Transcript 06/25/2019). On August 28, 2019, the trial court issued an order denying John Doe 2's motion to dismiss, motion for a protective order, and motion to quash the subpoena to Facebook. (R. p. 3) (Order 08/28/2019). On September 23, 2019, John Doe 2 filed the Notice of Appeal appealing the January 24, 2019 and August 28, 2019 orders of the trial court. (R. p. 307) (Notice of Appeal).

FACTS

The plaintiff, Lucas Marchant, was a candidate for the office of 13th Judicial Circuit Solicitor. (R. p. 21) (Complaint). He ran as an independent, petition candidate who had collected the required signatures to have his name appear on the November 6, 2018 general election ballot. *Id.* On October 16, 2018, Lucas Marchant filed a campaign ethics complaint in the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas against defendants John Doe and John Doe d/b/a Democrats for Marchant. (R. p. 21) (Complaint). The ethics complaint was filed within 50 days before the November 6, 2018 election. The plaintiff could have waited 3 weeks, until the day after the election, and filed the ethics complaint with the State Ethics Commission. The *Greenville News* published a news article about the allegations in the complaint.

The ethics complaint, in the facts section, alleges that the plaintiff is a candidate for the office of 13th Circuit Solicitor. (R. p. 21) (Complaint para. 5). The complaint further alleges that the defendants set up a Facebook page called “Democrats for Marchant,” and that the defendants are “attempting to polarize the Solicitor’s race and trick people into avoiding voting for Plaintiff.” (R. p. 22) (Complaint para. 11, 13). The complaint alleges that John Doe 1 and John Doe 2 worked together as a “group” (plaintiff’s phrase) to run Democrats for Marchant (an alleged committee). (R. p. 22) (Complaint para. 11, 12). The ethics complaint has two causes of action. (R. pp. 22-23) (Complaint). The first cause of action is a request for injunctive relief and alleges that the “Defendants’ actions violate South Carolina laws related to ethics, elections” (R. pp. 22-23) (Complaint para. 19). The plaintiff asked the court to enjoin the defendants from “[d]efrauding the public with false messages regarding campaign activity.” (R. p.

23) (Complaint para. 21). The second cause of action is a request for declaratory relief. The plaintiff asked the court to declare that the defendants' alleged conduct "violate[s] South Carolina Code Ann. § 8-13-1324 (2019) as they are anonymous campaign contributions." (R. p. 23) (Complaint para. 23). The complaint also asks the court to declare the "Defendants have violated ... other laws related to elections," and that the "Defendants have fraudulently sought to influence an election." (R. p. 23) (Complaint para. 24-25). The only two causes of action in the ethics complaint allege violations of the state's campaign ethics laws. There are no causes of action that do not involve an alleged violation of the campaign ethics laws.

The State Ethics Commission has exclusive jurisdiction over any allegation of a violation of the campaign ethics laws, including allegations against candidates, individuals, "a group of persons which, to influence the outcome of an elective office, receives contributions or makes expenditures," or "a noncandidate committee, or a committee that is not a campaign committee for a candidate but that is organized for the purpose of influencing an election." S.C. Code Ann. § 8-13-1300(6) and (6)(b) (2019) (emphasis added); S.C. Code Ann. § 8-13-320(7) and (9) (2019); S.C. Code Ann. § 8-13-1372(B) (2019); S.C. Code Ann. § 8-13-130 (2019). For complaints filed in the court of common pleas against a candidate for solicitor within 50 days before an election, South Carolina Code Ann. § 8-13-320(9)(b)(1) (2019) requires the court of common pleas to dismiss the ethics complaint within 10 days if the court does not issue a mandamus order or injunction within those 10 days. In this case, the trial court did not grant a mandamus order or injunction within 10 days, and therefore, the court of common pleas was required to dismiss the ethics complaint on October 26, 2018. The

court of common pleas never had subject matter jurisdiction in this case because the plaintiff did not file the complaint against a candidate. In the alternative, on October 27, 2018, the court of common pleas lost subject matter jurisdiction over the complaint. Subject matter jurisdiction is with the State Ethics Commission.

On October 17, 2018, the day after the ethics complaint was filed, but before the action was commenced by serving the complaint on either defendant, the plaintiff issued a subpoena to Facebook, Inc. ("Facebook") (R. pp. 286-294) (Subp. Cover Letter, SC Subp. and Calif. Subp.). The plaintiff did not serve the subpoena on any defendant as required by the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. The subpoena to Facebook requests information from Facebook such as the names of the persons that established or operated the "Democrats for Marchant" Facebook account and all email addresses for the persons that established or operated the Facebook account. (R. pp. 287, 293) (SC Subp. p. 1; Calif. Subp. Attachment 3). The subpoena to Facebook requests information that would reveal or unmask the identity of John Doe 2. (R. pp. 286-294) (Subp. Cover Letter, SC Subp. and Calif. Subp.). In addition, the subpoena requests the internet protocol (IP) addresses used to "[p]ublish statements [or] comment using the Democrats for Marchant account/profile." (R. p. 293) (Calif. Subp. Attachment 3). The request would unmask the identity of anyone who posted a comment on the Facebook page.

On January 18, 2019, the plaintiff filed an amended ethics complaint. (R. pp. 25-29) (Amended Complaint). The trial court did not issue any order allowing the plaintiff to amend his ethics complaint. The amended complaint no longer had a request for injunctive relief, but instead, the plaintiff added a cause of action for defamation. The

amended complaint continues to allege that the plaintiff was a candidate for the office of solicitor, that the defendants set up a Facebook page called “Democrats for Marchant,” and that the defendants are “attempted to polarize the Solicitor’s race and trick people into avoiding voting for Plaintiff.” (R. pp. 26-27) (Amended Complaint para. 6, 12, 14). The amended complaint continues to refer to John Doe 1 and John Doe 2 as a “group” and alleges that they had a committee Democrats for Marchant. (R. p. 27) (Amended Comp. para. 12-13). The amended complaint asks the court to declare that the defendants’ alleged conduct “violated South Carolina Code Ann. § 8-13-1324 (2019) as they are anonymous campaign contributions.” (R. p. 28) (Amended Complaint para. 21). The amended complaint also asks the court to declare the “Defendants have violated ... other laws related to elections,” and that the “Defendants have fraudulently sought to influence an election.” (R. p. 28) (Amended Complaint para. 22-23). The defamation action alleges that the defendants “made multiple false statements about the Plaintiff intended to ... deter third parties from ... voting for him.” (R. p. 28) (Amended Complaint para. 24). In short, the amended complaint is a campaign ethics complaint with an additional defamation cause of action alleging the defendants’ violations of the ethics laws caused people to not vote for the plaintiff. The amended complaint is still just an ethics complaint. The defamation cause of action does not allege “actual malice” by the defendants, but instead, it just pleads “malice.” (R. p. 28) (Amended Complaint para. 27).

The plaintiff also propounded discovery requests to John Doe 2. (R. pp. 187-198) (Cover letter, interrogatories, requests for production). The interrogatories request information that would reveal the identity of John Doe 2. For example, interrogatory

number 8 states: "List your full legal name, address, social security number, date of birth, and place of employment." (R. p. 191) (Interrogatory No. 8). Also, the requests for production seek information that would unmask the identity of John Doe 2. For example, request for production number 1 states: "Please provide a copy of the front and back of your current drivers' license." (R. p. 196) (Requests for Production No. 1).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"Subject matter jurisdiction is a question of law for the court. Questions of law may be decided with no particular deference to the trial court." *Doe ex rel. Legal Guardian v. Barnwell Sch.*, 369 S.C. 659, 633 S.E.2d 518 (Ct. App. 2006) (internal citations omitted). The appellate court reviews a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCF using the same standard of review as the trial court: whether the allegations in the complaint, which must be accepted as true, state a cause of action. *Chesnut v. AVX Corp.*, 413 S.C. 227, 776 S.E.2d 82 (2015). "The rulings of a trial judge in matters involving discovery will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of an abuse of discretion.... An abuse of discretion occurs when there is no evidence to support the trial judge's factual conclusion or when the ruling is based upon an error of law." *Evening Post Publ'g Co. v. Berkeley County Sch. Dist.*, 392 S.C. 76, 708 S.E.2d 745, (2011) (internal citations omitted).

ARGUMENTS

The court of common pleas does not have subject matter jurisdiction over the plaintiff's complaint. In addition, the trial court should have granted defendant John Doe

2's Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss the complaint. The trial court should have granted John Doe 2's motion for a protective order and motion to quash the subpoena issued to Facebook. Finally, the trial court should also have granted John Doe 1's motion to quash the subpoena issued to Facebook.

PART ONE: SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION

I. The court of common pleas does not have subject matter jurisdiction over the plaintiff's ethics complaint, or alternatively, the court of common pleas lost jurisdiction over the ethics complaint 10 days after the complaint was filed by the plaintiff.

A. SUMMARY ARGUMENT

Defendant John Doe 2 moved the trial court to dismiss the plaintiff's complaint pursuant to Rule 12(b)(1), SCRCP for lack of jurisdiction over the subject matter. (R. p. 183) (Motion to Dismiss). The trial court denied the defendant's motion and held that the court has jurisdiction over the plaintiff's complaints. (R. pp. 3-15) (Court Order 08/28/2019). The trial court's decision was an abuse of discretion and was based on an error of law. The appellate court may decide the issue of subject matter jurisdiction with "no particular deference to the trial court." *Doe ex rel. Legal Guardian v. Barnwell Sch.*, 369 S.C. 659, 633 S.E.2d 518 (Ct. App. 2006).

For this issue, the defendant has two alternative arguments. The first argument is that the court of common pleas never had subject matter jurisdiction over the plaintiff's ethics complaint. In the alternative, the second argument is that the court of common pleas lost jurisdiction over the ethics complaint 10 days after the complaint was filed by the plaintiff. The plaintiff's complaint was filed against John Doe 1 and John Doe 2. The complaint does not allege that John Doe 1 or John Doe 2 are candidates for elective

office. The plaintiff's complaint discusses the alleged conduct of John Doe 1 and John Doe 2 as a "group" working together with Democrats for Marchant (an alleged committee). The complaint alleges John Doe 1 and John Doe 2 made illegal, anonymous contributions to Democrats for Marchant for the purpose of influencing an election, and the contributions were not disclosed to the State Ethics Committee as required by the ethics laws. It does not allege any campaign ethics violations by any candidate for office or by Lucas Marchant (a candidate for office).

The State Ethics Commission has exclusive jurisdiction over any allegation of a violation of the campaign ethics laws, including allegations against candidates, individuals, "a group of persons which, to influence the outcome of an elective office, receives contributions or makes expenditures," or "a noncandidate committee, or a committee that is not a campaign committee for a candidate but that is organized for the purpose of influencing an election." S.C. Code Ann. § 8-13-1300(6) and (6)(b) (2019) (emphasis added); S.C. Code Ann. § 8-13-320(7) and (9) (2019); S.C. Code Ann. § 8-13-1372(B) (2019); S.C. Code Ann. § 8-13-130 (2019). However, for candidates for the office of solicitor, in the 50 days before an election, the relevant statute says the court of common pleas has jurisdiction for 10 days if the plaintiff's complaint makes allegations "concerning a candidate for elective office during the fifty-day period before an election in which he is a candidate," and it alleges a "violation of this chapter by a candidate." S.C. Code Ann. § 8-13-320(9)(b)(1) (2019). It is the primary position of John Doe 2 that the plaintiff's complaint is not a complaint "concerning a candidate for elective office during the fifty-day period before an election in which he is a candidate" that alleges a "violation of this chapter by a candidate," and thus, the court of common pleas never

had subject matter jurisdiction over the plaintiff's complaint. The only candidate mentioned in the complaint is Lucas Marchant, and the ethics complaint obviously never alleges that the plaintiff violated the ethics laws. The ethics complaint alleges John Doe 1 and John Doe 2, a "group," made illegal contributions to the committee Democrats for Marchant (which failed to disclose the contributions) and this was to "influence the outcome of an election" (R. pp. 22-23) (Complaint paras. 11, 12, 25). The complaint specifically used the words "a group" to describe the defendants. *Id.* In the alternative, if the appellate court construes the phrases "concerning a candidate for elective office during the fifty-day period before an election in which he is a candidate," and a "violation of this chapter by a candidate" to cover the allegations in the plaintiff's complaint, then the position of John Doe 2 is that the court of common pleas only had jurisdiction over the complaint for 10 days, and then jurisdiction reverted back to the State Ethics Commission.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has issued a decision that is directly on point. *Rainey v. Haley*, 404 S.C. 320, 745 S.E.2d 81 (2013). In *Rainey*, the Supreme Court held that the State Ethics Commission has exclusive jurisdiction over campaign ethics violations, unless the complaint involves an allegation against a candidate for the state senate or state house of representatives. *Rainey v. Haley*, 404 S.C. 320, 745 S.E.2d 81 (2013); *Ford v. State Ethics Com'n*, 344 S.C. 642, 545 S.E.2d 821 (2001); S.C. Code Ann. § 8-13-1300(6) and (6)(b) (2019); S.C. Code Ann. § 8-13-320(7) and (9) (2019); S.C. Code Ann. § 8-13-1372(B) (2019); S.C. Code Ann. § 8-13-130 (2019). The circuit courts have no jurisdiction over ethics violations or complaints; however, the court of common pleas has limited jurisdiction for a 10-day period during the 50 days

before an election if the complaint alleges an ethics violation by a candidate for elective office. *Id.*; see S.C. Code Ann. § 8-13-320(9)(b)(1) (2019) (complaints against candidates for office other than the state senate or house of representatives); see also S.C. Code Ann. § 8-13-530(4) (2019) (complaints against candidates for the state house of representatives). After the 10-day period, subject matter jurisdiction reverts to the State Ethics Commission (or state senate or house of representatives) for a determination of the alleged conduct. *Rainey v. Haley*, 404 S.C. 320, 745 S.E.2d 81 (2013).

The court of common pleas does not have jurisdiction to consider the plaintiff's complaint. As to the amended complaint, it was filed by the plaintiff when the court of common pleas did not have jurisdiction over the complaint, so the attempted amendments are null and void as a matter of law. The defendant asks the Court of Appeals to dismiss the complaint and amended complaint for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. If the Court of Appeals holds that the court of common pleas never had jurisdiction, then the dismissal should be dated October 16, 2018 *nunc pro tunc*. If the Court of Appeals holds that the court of common pleas had jurisdiction for 10 days, then the dismissal should be dated October 26, 2018 *nunc pro tunc*. If the court dismisses the complaint and amended complaint *nunc pro tunc* for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, then the plaintiff cannot propound any discovery requests in the case and the subpoena is quashed by operation of the dismissal of the complaint. This will resolve all issues on appeal.

B. ADDITIONAL ARGUMENT

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