THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-CP-23-05309
Appellate Case No. 2019-001605

RECEIVED

Dec 03 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Lucas Marchant,.....Respondent,

v.

John Doe and John Doe d/b/a Democrats for Marchant, Defendants,
of which John Doe is
the,.....Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Joshua Snow Kendrick
Christopher S. Leonard
KENDRICK & LEONARD, P.C.
P.O. Box 6938
Greenville, SC 29606
(864) 760-4000

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

Though the intervention rule should be liberally construed to protect the rights of all affected parties in an action, courts must also consider the practical implications of a decision denying or allowing intervention. *Id.* The trial court did that in this case on the record and denied a motion to intervene. (R. p.104, ll.19-21). Because that denial was

correct under South Carolina law and appears on the record, it supports affirmance by this Court.

The trial court identified the practical problem with allowing intervention. John Doe 1 had already appeared and asserted it was the Facebook account creator and accountholder. After losing in the trial court and this Court, a new John Doe appeared and made essentially the same argument, adding additional legal grounds.

By appearing without the formality of a motion to intervene, the John Does are free to continue appearing until a ruling is made in one, some, or all the Does' favor.

Doe 1 was the person who created the Facebook account. When lawyers for Facebook received the subpoena and contacted the accountholder, they were told a motion to quash was being filed.⁵ Doe 1 made his motion and lost. This original John Doe is the real John Doe. As the accountholder Doe 1 was the proper defendant in the lawsuit.

Doe 2 cannot also be the accountholder, yet at the same time is not the original John Doe. Two people are taking inconsistent positions in this case.

Those positions create an advantage because no John Doe will be bound by any court ruling. They can just keep showing up until the litigation becomes pointless.

The trial court also correctly denied standing on the specific facts asserted at the hearing. John Doe 2's counsel asserted his client's identity would be revealed if Facebook responded to the subpoena. (R. p.96, ll.18-20). However, he was unclear on why. Initially, he claimed Marchant's subpoena would identify anyone who published on the Facebook

⁵ Counsel describes these events at (R. p.91, ll.4-20). The case was appealed before any discovery was conducted so there was no opportunity to develop this on the record. However, counsel can produce communications with Facebook attorneys well before John Doe 2 ever appeared.

page, anyone who bought advertising, and anyone who edited the page. (R. p.96, l.22 – p.97, l.1).

It was unclear if John Doe 2 was truly asserting there are multiple people running the Facebook page or if John Doe 2 was just guessing that was the case. (R. p.97, ll.1-6). The trial court properly pointed out that such a vague and broad description may result in John Doe 2 being a witness, but not a party. (R. p.97, ll.7-8).

This Court is faced with an anonymous party who appeared to defend against a subpoena to Facebook. The same party had a full opportunity to challenge the subpoena in court. That party has also triggered the protection of Facebook, who refuses to comply with the subpoena based on its communication with the anonymous party. After losing his challenge, the anonymous party then unsuccessfully appealed to this Court.

A second anonymous party has now appeared claiming it has the same rights as the first party, but is a different, and seemingly unrelated party from the first one. The confusion created makes it impossible for Marchant to litigate this matter and for the trial court to enforce its authority.

Putting aside that confusion, John Doe 2 has not properly asserted its rights through a motion to intervene. Doe 2 has no standing in this matter and the decision of the trial court should be affirmed.

2. THE ARGUMENTS RAISED BY THE APPELLANT IN THE TRIAL COURT WERE UNTIMELY AND WAIVED BY THE PREVIOUS DECISIONS IN THIS CASE.

Related to the standing argument, the issues raised by the Appellant have been addressed by both the trial and appellate court or waived. Based on communication with Facebook, John Doe 1 was the proper party to this case and John Doe 2 has no standing in this matter.

If John Doe 2 does have standing, it would be because he is really John Doe 1. There is no question the January 2019 motion to quash was filed on behalf of the target of the subpoena to Facebook. Facebook will notify an accountholder if a subpoena or court order is served on the company.⁶ This is consistent with counsel's communications with Facebook, as he described at a hearing in this matter.

Counsel questioned the standing of John Doe 2 because of the communication with Facebook in this matter. It was clear Facebook had been in touch with the accountholder and was learning about the progress of the litigation through that person. (R. p.93, l.7 – p.94, l.10). Facebook specifically mentioned it would not comply with any subpoena based on John Doe 1's motion to quash.

John Doe 1 argued his constitutional rights at the January hearing. He made the identical argument on anonymous speech John Doe 2 makes. John Doe 2 has made a more detailed argument, but it still fails based on the order from the January hearing.

Judge Gravely carefully considered the constitutional implications of his ruling and found that the subpoena to Facebook was proper. (R. p.18). He also noted there had been no challenge to the form of the subpoena or the process by which it was issued. (R. p.16).

The subpoena Judge Gravely was ruling on is the same subpoena John Doe 2 was challenging in his motion. After Judge Gravely's order, John Doe 1 appealed to this Court. That appeal was denied because the underlying order was not immediately appealable. (R. p.304).

⁶ See https://www.facebook.com/help/133221086752707?helpref=uf_permalink, which describes Facebook's compliance policies. (last accessed July 21, 2020).

After remittal to the trial court, John Doe 1's only option to continue his argument about the subpoena was to file a motion to reconsider Judge Gravely's ruling. *Elam v. S.C. DOT*, 361 S.C. 9, 21, 602 S.E.2d 772, 778-79 (2004) (a Rule 59(e) motion is a vehicle to seek reconsideration of issues and arguments). Judge Miller referenced the earlier order and it is clear he did not intend to modify it. (R. p.107, l.1-6).

Doe 1 previously argued issues related to the subpoena in this matter. He answered without asserting affirmative defenses. There is no "do-over" where a party claims to be a different person (though somehow also the same person legally) and re-litigates all the issues it previously lost or failed to raise.

The record reflects John Doe 2 is either the same as John Doe 1 or is not a proper defendant to this action.⁷ Either way, the trial court was correct in ruling the case should move forward and that ruling should be affirmed.

ARGUMENTS RAISED BY JOHN DOE 2

I. THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS HAD SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION OVER THE PLAINTIFF'S LAWSUIT.

John Doe 2 argues the courts do not have jurisdiction over violations of the South Carolina Ethics Act except for very limited circumstances. This interpretation disregards the plain language of the statute and creates the absurd result that a significant group of people are not subject to campaign finance laws.

S.C. Code § 8-13-320(b)(1) specifically refers to a complaint concerning a candidate for office. The statute refers to complaints against candidates, rather than any complaint involving a candidate. Additionally, the Act does not apply to private entities.

⁷ Both parties claim to be the Facebook account holder, but do not assert any other connection or collusion, which is impractical.

Shah v. Richland Mem'l Hosp., 350 S.C. 139, 152, 564 S.E.2d 681, 687 (Ct. App. 2002). John Doe's arguments through counsel reflect he was not a candidate for office.

While *Shah* declined to exercise jurisdiction over the matter presented in that case, it relied on the mootness doctrine. That would not apply to this case. It has never been raised so is not properly before this Court.

On the other hand, the courts have broad power to resolve controversies and uncertainties. S.C. Code § 15-53-60. Under that power, the trial court had jurisdiction to resolve this matter. A decision of the court would have terminated a controversy and removed an uncertainty, which is exactly what the statute calls for.

The Ethics Act has both substantive and procedural components. Substantively, Marchant alleged Doe violated the anonymous campaign contribution law by contributing significant financial resources to express campaign advocacy. Procedurally, the Ethics Act only provides a mode of enforcement against public officials, public members, or public employees.⁸

The form for initiating a complaint requires a named respondent.⁹ An anonymous complaint would not be accepted or investigated by the Commission, because it would have no respondent to list in its initiation forms.¹⁰

Under the Appellant's interpretation of the statute, an anonymous person is not subject to any campaign laws. Relying on *Rainey v. Haley*, Appellant argues exclusive

⁸ See *General Information – Who can file a complaint?*, <https://ethics.sc.gov/complaints> (last accessed July 21, 2020).

⁹ *State of South Carolina State Ethics Commission Complaint Form*, <https://ethics.sc.gov/sites/default/files/Documents/Complaints/C102form.pdf> (last accessed July 21, 2020).

¹⁰ Counsel is aware of this fact from other dealings with the Commission. To the extent this Court does not accept this assertion, this would be an appropriate matter for factual development on remand.

jurisdiction over all ethics complaints is vested in the State Ethics Commission, unless the allegation is against a member of the legislature in which case either the Senate or the House would have jurisdiction. *Rainey v. Haley*, 404 S.C. 320, 323-25, 745 S.E.2d 81, 82-84 (2013). This is incorrect.

Rainey does not address exclusive jurisdiction over the Ethics Act; it addresses exclusive jurisdiction over specific people subject to the Ethics Act. Justice Beatty pointed out in his concurrence that a circuit court has subject matter jurisdiction over violations of the Ethics Act. *Id.* at 329 (Beatty, J., concurring). There is no statute conferring exclusive jurisdiction to the State Ethics Commission or the Legislative Ethics Commission. *Id.* That conferring of jurisdiction is only exclusive in certain cases, not all cases.

Under Doe 2's reading of the statute, neither a non-public entity, such as a citizen, nor an anonymous person could ever be found in violation of the Ethics Act. Doe 2 argues the exclusive way to resolve an Ethics Act violation is with either the Ethics Committee of the House or Senate or the State Ethics Commission. The House or Senate only polices their own members. The Commission needs a named party that has some public status.

An unnamed person not serving in the state legislature is immune from the Ethics Act under Doe 2's reading. For example, the Doe in this case (the real Doe) is not subject to any consequences from its actions if there is no procedure by which it can be prevented from illegally participating in an election. This is absurd.

No matter what a statute says, courts must reject any interpretation that will lead to a result so plainly absurd it could not have been intended by the legislature. *Duke Energy Corp. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 415 S.C. 351, 355, 782 S.E.2d 590, 592 (2016). The Court's reading of a statute should be in harmony with its purpose. *Id.*

Obviously, the General Assembly did not intend to place the vast majority of the State of South Carolina outside the reach of its Ethics Act. There must be some remedy for election shenanigans carried out by anonymous or private citizens. A proper reading of the statute at issue here requires a recognition that the circuit court has jurisdiction over a controversy that would not otherwise be addressed.

If Respondent conceded a problem with subject matter jurisdiction in the original complaint for the sake of argument, it would have little effect on this case.¹¹ The trial court ruling would still be appropriate. By the time either Doe responded to the complaint, it had been amended to add a claim for defamation, which would not be subject to the Appellant's statutory argument.

Respondent argues the lack of subject matter jurisdiction over the original complaint would operate to void any amendments to that complaint. There is no case law cited for this proposition. Such a rule would go against South Carolina court's general authority on amendments.

South Carolina freely allows amendments to a complaint to cure pleading defects, if those amendments would not be futile. *Skydive Myrtle Beach v. Horry Cty.*, 426 S.C. 175, 182, 826 S.E.2d 585, 589 (2019). If Doe is correct, and the trial court could not exercise jurisdiction over a violation of the Ethics Act, that would constitute a defect in the pleading. An amendment would have been allowed to bring an action that has nothing to do with the Ethics Act.

The defamation claim in this case was well within the statute of limitations and properly brought. Even if the trial court had no jurisdiction over the first complaint, there

¹¹ Respondent does not concede this point.

is no authority to prohibit the second complaint. Marchant could have dismissed the first complaint entirely and brought the second complaint. Even if Doe could convince a court it did not have jurisdiction over the causes of action related to the Ethics Act, he has no argument the defamation act was not properly before the court. The rule he advances would mean a party filing a defective pleading could never file a lawsuit against the same defendant, even if the cause of action were entirely different.

Marchant could have filed a separate defamation action against Doe. He could have filed a subsequent action for defamation any time within the statute of limitations. That action would not have been dependent in any way on the causes of action related to the Ethics Act. Any error in exercising jurisdiction was harmless and the order of the trial court should be affirmed.

II. DEFENDANT JOHN DOE 2 DID NOT HAVE A FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO FALSE, DECEPTIVE, AND DEFAMATORY SPEECH.

A statement is defamatory if it tends to harm an individual's reputation in a way that lowers him in the eyes of the community or deters third parties from dealing with or associating with the individual. *Holtzscheiter v. Thomson Newspapers*, 332 S.C. 502, 518, 506 S.E.2d 497, 506 (1998)(Toal, J. concurring). Communications may be defamatory to one person at a given time and place even if the communication would not be defamatory at a different time and place. *Id.* at 518 n.2.

The elements of defamation are simple and well-settled: (1) a false and defamatory statement about another; (2) an unprivileged publication to a third party; (3) fault on the part of the publisher; (4) special harm or actionability irrespective of special harm. *Id.* at 518.

The statements Doe made on the fake Facebook page were false.¹² An October 11, 2018 post accused Marchant of littering, failing to set a good example while running for a position responsible for enforcing the law, and failing to care about both laws and the environment. None of these statements were true.

An October 8, 2018 post implied Marchant believed Supreme Court Justice Brett Kavanaugh is an attempted rapist, a belief Marchant does not hold. The post was intended to associate Marchant with a highly partisan issue that would damage support for him in an overwhelmingly Republican voting area. The same post was published October 7, 2018 with an identical message. On September 27, 2018 a post stated people should vote “No” for Kavanaugh and “Yes” for Marchant, implying a link between the two positions. The posts garnered hundreds of negative comments, as intended by the operator of the Facebook page.

Doe’s September 23, 2018 post was more direct. It describes Marchant as “standing strong” with both the Democratic Party and its gubernatorial candidate, James Smith. It also stated Marchant could be trusted as a “loyal Democrat.” The picture showed Marchant at an event for James Smith, implying he was associated with Smith and his political party.

There were other posts not captured by Marchant prior to the page coming down that associated Marchant with Bernie Sanders. This post was widely spread by both the Upstate GOP and supporters of Marchant’s opponent.

¹² Marchant does not believe the record shows it is Doe 2 that made these statements. Doe 1 made them. Doe 2’s argument it is the speaker is inconsistent with Doe 1’s argument it is the speaker. Marchant has argued Doe 2’s lack of standing. If the Court rejects that argument, it does not necessarily matter which Doe the speaker was, since both Does have claimed to be the speaker on Facebook. For that reason, Marchant does not differentiate between Doe 1 and Doe 2 in this section.

None of these messages were true. They falsely attempted to associate Marchant with unpopular ideas to sway voters not to vote for him.

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